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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2020

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leasing

Accounting policy applicable on or after 1 July 2019

Definition of a lease

Under HKFRS 16, a contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys a right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

The Group as lessee

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of initial application, the Group assesses whether 
a contract is or contains a lease, at inception of the contract. The Group recognises a right-of-use asset and a 
corresponding lease liability with respect to all lease arrangements in which it is the lessee, except for short-term 
leases (defined as leases with a lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low value assets. For these leases, 
the Group recognises the lease payments as an operating expense on a straight-line basis over the term of the 
lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic benefits from 
the leased assets are consumed.

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date, the Group measures lease liability at the present value of the lease payments that 
are not paid at that date. The lease payments are discounted by using the interest rate implicit in the lease. If this 
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise fixed lease payments (including in-
substance fixed payments).

The lease liability is presented as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The lease liability is subsequently measured by increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease 
liability (using the effective interest method) and by reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments 
made.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Leasing (Continued)

Accounting policy applicable on or after 1 July 2019 (Continued)

The Group as lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

Lease liability is remeasured (and with a corresponding adjustment to the related right-of-use asset) whenever:

•	 the lease term has changed or there is a significant event or change in circumstances resulting in a change 
in the assessment of exercise of a purchase option, in which case the lease liability is remeasured by 
discounting the revised lease payments using revised discount rate.

•	 the lease payments change due to changes in an index or rate or a change in expected payment under a 
guaranteed residual value, in which cases the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease 
payments using the initial discount rate (unless the lease payments change is due to a change in a floating 
interest rate, in which case a revised discount rate is used).

•	 a lease contract is modified and the lease modification is not accounted for as a separate lease, in which 
case the lease liability is remeasured by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount 
rate.

Right-of-use assets

The right-of-use assets comprise the initial measurement of the corresponding lease liability, lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date and any initial direct costs.

Right-of-use assets are subsequently measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
They are depreciated over the shorter period of lease term and useful life of the underlying asset. If a lease 
transfers ownership of the underlying asset or the cost of the right-of-use asset reflects that the Group expects 
to exercise a purchase option, the related right-of-use asset is depreciated over the useful life of the underlying 
asset. The depreciation starts at the commencement date of the lease.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group applies HKAS 36 to determine whether a right-of-use asset is impaired and accounts for any identified 
impairment loss.

Lease modification

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate lease if:

•	 the modification increases the scope of the lease by adding the right to use one or more underlying assets; 
and

•	 the consideration for the lease increases by an amount commensurate with the stand-alone price for the 
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of 
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for a separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability based 
on the lease term of the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments using a revised discount rate 
at the effective date of the modification.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies 
HKAS 12 Income Taxes requirements to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities separately. Temporary differences 
relating to right-of-use assets and lease liabilities are not recognised at initial recognition and over the lease 
terms due to application of the initial recognition exemption.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss. Where current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial 
accounting for a business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting for the business combination.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost less 
subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to allocate the cost of assets over their estimated useful lives, using the straight 
line method for leasehold improvement, buildings and machinery and using the diminishing balance method for 
other property, plant and equipment. The estimated useful lives and depreciation method are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

Prior to the adoption of HKFRS 16, assets held under finance leases are depreciated over their expected useful 
lives on the same basis as owned assets. However, when there is no reasonable certainty that ownership will be 
obtained by the end of the lease term, assets are depreciated over the shorter of the lease term and their useful 
lives.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits 
are expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement 
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the sales proceeds and the 
carrying amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Cash and cash equivalents

Bank balances and cash in the consolidated statement of financial position comprise cash at banks and on 
hand and bank deposits with an original maturity of three months or less. For the purpose of the consolidated 
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and deposits as defined above.

Investments in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are stated on the statement of financial position of the Company at cost less 
accumulated impairment loss.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position when a 
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at fair value, except for trade receivables arising from 
contracts with customers which are initially measured in accordance with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial liabilities are added to or deducted 
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

All regular way purchases or sales of financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date basis. 
Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the 
time frame established by regulation or convention in the marketplace.

All recognised financial assets are subsequently measured in their entirety at either amortised cost or fair value, 
depending on the classification of the financial assets. Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as 
subsequently measured at amortised cost and FVTOCI.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow 
characteristics and the Group’s business model for managing them.

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

The Group measures financial assets subsequently at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

•	 the financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold financial assets in order to 
collect contractual cash flows; and

•	 the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest method and are subject 
to impairment.

(i)	 Amortised cost and effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a debt instrument and of 
allocating interest income over the relevant period.

For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (i.e. assets that are 
credit-impaired on initial recognition), the effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of the effective 
interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) excluding ECL, through the expected life 
of the debt instrument, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to the gross carrying amount of the debt 
instrument on initial recognition. For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, a credit-
adjusted effective interest rate is calculated by discounting the estimated future cash flows, including ECL, 
to the amortised cost of the debt instrument on initial recognition.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments) (Continued)

(i)	 Amortised cost and effective interest method (Continued)

The amortised cost of a financial asset is the amount at which the financial asset is measured at initial 
recognition minus the principal repayments, plus the cumulative amortisation using the effective interest 
method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity amount, adjusted for any loss 
allowance. The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is the amortised cost of a financial asset before 
adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest method for debt instruments measured 
subsequently at amortised cost. For financial assets other than purchased or originated credit-impaired 
financial assets, interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying 
amount of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired (see 
below). For financial assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by 
applying the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset. If, in subsequent reporting 
periods, the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that the financial asset is 
no longer credit-impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the effective interest rate to the gross 
carrying amount of the financial asset.

For purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets, the Group recognises interest income by 
applying the credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset from initial 
recognition. The calculation does not revert to the gross basis even if the credit risk of the financial asset 
subsequently improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired.

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss and is included in the “Other income” line item (Note 7).
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Equity instruments designated as at FVTOCI

On initial recognition, the Group may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) 
to designate investments in equity instruments as at FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the 
equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognised by an acquirer in a business 
combination.

Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. 
Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised 
in other comprehensive income and accumulated in the investment revaluation reserve. The cumulative gain or 
loss will not be reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity investments, instead, they will be transferred 
to retained profits.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognised a loss allowance for ECL on financial assets that are measured at amortised cost and 
contract assets. The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in credit risk since initial 
recognition of the respective financial instrument.

For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group applies the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9 and 
recognises lifetime ECL that results from all possible default events over the expected life of these financial 
instruments. In estimating the ECL, the Group determines the ECL either collectively using a provision matrix 
by reference to past default experience of the debtor or assessed on an individual basis based on the credit risk 
characteristic and the ageing of trade receivables and contract asset. The Group takes into account the Group’s 
historical credit loss experience, current economic conditions, value of collaterals, subsequent settlement, 
adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast 
conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month ECL, unless when 
there has a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The 
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase in the likelihood or risk 
of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition, 
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting date with 
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition. In making 
this assessment, the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that is reasonable and 
supportable, including historical experience and forward-looking information that is available without undue cost 
or effort. Forward-looking information considered includes the future prospects of the industries in which the 
Group’s debtors operate, as well as consideration of various external sources of actual and forecast economic 
information that relate to the Group’s operations.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when assessing whether credit risk has increased 
significantly since initial recognition:

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the financial instrument’s external (if available) or internal 
credit rating;

•	 significant deterioration in external market indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit 
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

•	 existing or forecast adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are expected to 
cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

•	 an actual or expected significant deterioration in the operating results of the debtor;

•	 significant increases in credit risk on other financial instruments of the same debtor;

•	 an actual or expected significant adverse change in the regulatory, economic, or technological environment 
of the debtor that results in a significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment, the Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial 
instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition when contractual payments are more than 30 days  
past due, unless the Group has reasonable and supportable information that demonstrates otherwise.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial instrument has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition if the financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the 
reporting date. A financial instrument is determined to have low credit risk if (i) it has a low risk of default, (ii) 
the borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse 
changes in economic and business conditions in the longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability 
of the borrower to fulfill its contractual cash flow obligations. The Group considers a financial asset to have 
low credit risk when the asset has external credit rating of ‘investment grade’ in accordance with the globally 
understood definition or if an external rating is not available, the asset has an internal rating of ‘performing’. 
Performing means that the counterparty has a strong financial position and there is no past due amounts.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of 
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the amount becomes past due.

Definition of default

The Group considers the following as constituting an event of default for internal credit risk management 
purposes as historical experience indicates that receivables that meet either of the following criteria are generally 
not recoverable:

•	 when there is a breach of financial covenants by the debtor; or

•	 information developed internally or obtained from external sources indicates that the debtor is unlikely to 
pay its creditors, including the Group, in full (without taking into account any collaterals held by the Group).

Taking into account of the business cycle, industry practice and historical experience, the Group considers that 
default has occurred when a financial asset is more than 2 years past due unless the Group has reasonable and 
supportable information to demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is more appropriate.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated 
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes 
observable data about the following events:

•	 significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the borrower;

•	 a breach of contract, such as a default or past due event;

•	 the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s financial 
difficulty, having granted to the borrower a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise consider;

•	 it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter into bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

•	 the disappearance of an active market for that financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the counterparty has been placed under 
liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets written off may 
still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice 
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of 
the loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default. The assessment of the probability of default and loss 
given default is based on historical data adjusted by forward-looking information as described above. As for the 
exposure at default, for financial assets, this is represented by the assets’ gross carrying amount at the reporting 
date.

For financial assets, the ECL is estimated as the difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the 
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at 
the original effective interest rate.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

If the Group has measured the loss allowance for a financial instrument at an amount equal to lifetime ECL in 
the previous reporting period, but determines at the current reporting date that the conditions for lifetime ECL 
are no longer met, the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount equal to 12-month ECL at the current 
reporting date, except for assets for which simplified approach was used.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting their 
carrying amount where the corresponding adjustment is recognised through a loss allowance account.

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset 
to another party.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying 
amount and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss. In addition, 
on derecognition of an investment in equity instrument which the Group has elected on initial recognition to 
measure at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously accumulated in the investments revaluation reserve is 
not reclassified to profit or loss, but is transferred to retained earnings.



Annual Report 2020 69

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2020

3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity instruments

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments issued by a group entity are classified as either financial liabilities or as equity in 
accordance with the substance of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial 
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of an entity after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued by a group entity are recognised at the proceeds received, net of 
direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities

All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

Financial liabilities subsequently measured at amortised cost

Financial liabilities that are not 1) contingent consideration of an acquirer in a business combination, 2) held-for 
trading, or 3) designated as at FVTPL, are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
method.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial liability and of 
allocating interest expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts 
estimated future cash payments (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the 
financial liability, or (where appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortised cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, 
cancelled or they expire. The difference between the carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised and 
the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognised 
in profit or loss.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment losses on tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of its tangible assets to determine 
whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication exists, 
the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if 
any. When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the Group estimates 
the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) to which the asset belongs. When a reasonable 
and consistent basis of allocation can be identified, corporate assets are also allocated to individual CGU, or 
otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of CGUs for which a reasonable and consistent allocation can 
be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of disposal and value-in-use. In assessing value-in-use, 
the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects 
current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset for which the estimates 
of future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a CGU) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying 
amount of the asset (or the CGU) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (or the CGU) is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not exceed the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset (or the 
CGU) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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3.	 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

Fair value measurement

When measuring fair value except for the Group’s share-based payment transaction, leasing transactions, net 
realisable value of inventories and value in use of tangible assets for the purpose of impairment assessment, 
the Group takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants would take those 
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate 
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling it to another market participant that 
would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data 
are available to measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of 
unobservable inputs. Specifically, the Group categorised the fair value measurements into three levels, based on 
the characteristics of inputs, as follow:

Level 1 – Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is directly or indirectly observable.

Level 3 – Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value 
measurement is unobservable.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group determines whether transfer occur between levels of the fair value 
hierarchy for assets and liabilities which are measured at fair value on recurring basis by reviewing their respective 
fair value measurement.

4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY
In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 3, the directors of the 
Company are required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets, 
liabilities, revenue and expenses reported and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements. The 
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other factors that are considered to 
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the 
period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Critical judgement in applying the Group’s accounting policies

The following is the critical judgement, apart from those involving estimations (see below), that the directors 
of the Company have made in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and that have the most 
significant effect on the amounts recognised and disclosures made in the consolidated financial statements.

Contingent liabilities in respect of litigation claims

Contingent liabilities arising from litigation claims have been assessed by the management with reference to 
legal advice and historical records. The directors of the Company consider that no provision for the contingent 
liabilities in respect of the litigation is necessary after due consideration of each case and with reference to legal 
advice and historical records.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial year.

Revenue recognition in respect of building maintenance and renovation services

Income is recognised based on management’s estimation of the value of each work order. Thereafter, customers 
would undertake detailed assessment of all completed work orders before finalisation of the contracts which 
normally last for three years. Such revenue was recognised over time based on the progress measured using 
an output method – satisfaction of that performance obligation of the building maintenance services and 
renovation services which involves significant management judgment and estimation of the value of each work 
order. During the assessment process, the actual value of completed work orders and contract maybe higher or 
lower than the estimates and will affect the Group’s revenue recognised.
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4.	 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENT AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Loss allowance of trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract assets, loan and interest 
receivable and consideration receivable

The Group determines the ECL on an individual basis for each debtor. The Group estimated the ECL based 
on historical credit loss experience and forward-looking information and an assessment of both the current 
as well as the forecast conditions at the reporting date, including time value of money where appropriate. At 
each reporting period, the historical observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-looking 
information are considered.

The Group uses judgement in making these assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment calculation, 
based on the number of days that an individual receivable is outstanding as well as the debtor’s historical 
repayment history and forward-looking information at the end of the reporting period. Changes in these 
assumptions and estimates could materially affect the result of the assessment and it may be necessary to make 
additional loss allowance to the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

The information about the ECL on the Group’s trade receivables, deposits and other receivables, contract 
assets, loan and interest receivable and consideration receivable are disclosed in notes 19, 19, 21, 20 and 19 
respectively.

As at 30 June 2020, the carrying amount of trade receivables is approximately HK$73,918,000 (2019: 
HK$55,535,000), net of loss allowance of approximately HK$1,249,000 (2019: nil).

As at 30 June 2020, the carrying amount of contract assets is approximately HK$51,880,000 (2019: 
HK$72,836,000), no loss allowance has been provided at the end of the reporting period (2019: nil).

As at 30 June 2020, the carrying amount of deposits and other receivable is approximately HK$14,476,000 (2019: 
HK$1,517,000), net of loss allowance of approximately HK$964,000 (2019: nil).

As at 30 June 2020, the carrying amounts of loan and interest receivable and consideration receivable are 
approximately HK$12,088,000 (2019: HK$9,965,000) and HK$21,400,000 (2019: HK$21,400,000) respectively, 
no loss allowance has been provided at the end of the reporting period (2019: nil).
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5.	 REVENUE
An analysis of the Group’s revenue for the year from continuing operations is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Revenue from contracts with customers within the scope of HKFRS 15:

Disaggregated of revenue by services lines:
– Building maintenance services 249,674 373,190
– Renovation services 130,831 42,339   

380,505 415,529   

Disaggregation of revenue from contracts with customers by timing of recognition:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Timing of revenue recognition

Over time and total revenue from contracts with customers 380,505 415,529   

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance obligations

As at 30 June 2020, the aggregate amount of transaction price allocated to the performance obligations that 
are unsatisfied (or partially satisfied) is approximately HK$378,901,000 (2019: HK$402,901,000). The amount 
represents revenue expected to be recognised in the future from construction contract. The Group will recognise 
this revenue as the service is completed, which is expected to occur over the next 12-24 months (2019: 12-24 
months).

The above amount does not include variable consideration which is constrained.

6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION
The Group’s reportable and operating segments, based on information reported to the chairman of the 
Board, being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM”) for the purposes of resources allocation and 
performance assessment focuses on types of services provided. No operating segments identified by the CODM 
have been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the Group.

Specifically, the Group’s reportable segments are as follows:

(i)	 Building maintenance; and

(ii)	 Renovation

An operating segment regarding the sales of visible light photocatalysis products was discontinued in the prior 
year. The segment information reported on the next pages does not include any amounts for this discontinued 
operation, which are described in more detail in note 10.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results from continuing operations by reportable and 
operating segments:

For the year ended 30 June 2020

Continuing operations
Building

maintenance Renovation Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

Segment revenue 249,674 130,831 380,505    

Segment profit 10,667 4,809 15,476   

Unallocated corporate income 3,373
Central administration costs (33,311)
Finance costs (85) 

Loss before taxation (14,547) 

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Continuing operations
Building

maintenance Renovation Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

Segment revenue 373,190 42,339 415,529    

Segment profit 26,742 4,229 30,971   

Unallocated corporate income 1,839
Central administration costs (41,070)
Finance costs (251) 

Loss before taxation (8,511) 

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as the Group’s accounting policies described in 
Note 3. Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment without allocation of unallocated corporate 
income, central administration costs, impairment loss on other receivables and finance costs. This is the measure 
reported to the CODM for the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

There were no inter-segment sales between different business segments for the years ended 30 June 2020 and 
2019.
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Segment assets and liabilities

The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities by reportable and operating segments:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Segment assets
Continuing operations
Building maintenance 60,368 90,325
Renovation 69,944 43,278   

Total segment assets 130,312 133,603
Assets relating to discontinued operation – 21,400
Unallocated corporate assets 121,864 76,062   

Total assets 252,176 231,065   

Segment liabilities
Continuing operations
Building maintenance 39,449 49,510
Renovation 51,456 7,934   

Total segment liabilities 90,905 57,444
Unallocated corporate liabilities 10,847 11,229   

Total liabilities 101,752 68,673   

For the purpose of monitoring segment performance and allocating resources between segments:

•	 all assets are allocated to operating segments other than certain property, plant and equipment, certain 
right-of-use assets, financial assets at FVTOCI, rental deposit, certain other receivables, loan and interest 
receivable, consideration receivable, pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three 
months, bank balances and cash and tax recoverable as these assets are managed on a group basis.

•	 all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other than certain other payables, certain lease liabilities/
obligations under finance leases, bank borrowings, tax payable, long service payment obligations and 
deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a group basis.

In measuring the Group’s segment assets and liabilities, lease liabilities of approximately HK$40,000 (2019: 
obligations under finance leases of approximately HK$509,000) were allocated to building maintenance 
segment. However, the relevant interests on lease liabilities of approximately HK$28,000 (2019: interests 
on obligations under finance leases of approximately HK$36,000) were not included in the measurement of 
segment results. Should the interests on lease liabilities (2019: interests on obligations under finance leases) be 
included in the measurement of segment profit, the segment profit of the building maintenance segment for the 
year ended 30 June 2020 would be approximately HK$10,639,000 (2019: HK$26,706,000).
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

For the year ended 30 June 2020

Continuing operations 
Building

maintenance Renovation Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Amounts included in the measure of 
segment profit or segment assets:
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 148 – 504 652
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,250 – 435 1,685
Impairment loss on trade receivables 1,249 – – 1,249     

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM 
but not included in the measure of 
segment profit or segment assets:
Gain on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment (7) – – (7)
Bank interest income – – (534) (534)
Loan interest income – – (1,187) (1,187)
Impairment loss on other receivables – – 964 964
Finance costs 28 – 57 85
Income tax credit – – (38) (38)     
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6.	 SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Continuing operations
Building

maintenance Renovation Unallocated Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Amounts included in the measure of 
segment profit or segment assets:
Additions to property, plant and equipment 1,312 – – 1,312
Depreciation of property, plant and 

equipment 537 – 620 1,157     

Amounts regularly provided to the CODM 
but not included in the measure of 
segment profit or segment assets:
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and 

equipment (222) – 102 (120)
Bank interest income – – (443) (443)
Loan interest income – – (1,215) (1,215)
Finance costs 36 – 215 251
Income tax expenses – – 742 742     

Geographical information

The Group’s revenue from continuing operations from external customers by location of operations and non-
current assets by geographical location are all derived and located in Hong Kong (place of domicile) for both 
years.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group 
are as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Customer A1 249,653 329,855   

1	 Revenue from building maintenance and renovation services.



Annual Report 2020 79

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2020

7.	 OTHER INCOME
Continuing operations

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Bank interest income 534 443
Loan interest income 1,187 1,215
Net gain on disposal of property, plant and equipment 7 120
Net income from trading of construction materials (Note i) 328 –
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37) 325 –
Government subsidy (Note ii) 692 –
Others 300 61   

3,373 1,839   

Note i:

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the amount represented net income from the trading of construction materials of 
approximately HK$328,000 (2019: nil), represented gross income of approximately HK$19,080,000 (2019: nil) net of gross 
cost of goods sold of approximately HK$18,752,000 (2019: nil).

Note ii:

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the amounts represented cash subsidies of approximately HK$642,000 and HK$50,000 
from the Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) and Anti-epidemic Fund granted by the Government of the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region (“HKSAR”) respectively as part of the relief measures on Covid-19 pandemic. The subsidy income 
from ESS covers the period from June 2020 to August 2020 and the unrecognised income of approximately HK$1,284,000 
is included in deferred income under “trade and other payables” (Note 23). Under the terms of the ESS, the total payroll 
headcount of each month from June 2020 to August 2020 shall not be less than that of March 2020 as a result of termination 
of staff and the Group is liable to a penalty if a variance is identified in each of the month. As such, the Group recognises the 
cash subsidy over the three-month period on a straight-line basis.

8.	 FINANCE COSTS
Continuing operations

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Interests on:
Bank borrowings 25 197
Obligations under finance leases – 54
Lease liabilities 60 –   

85 251   
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9.	 INCOME TAX (CREDIT) EXPENSES
Continuing operations

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Hong Kong Profits Tax:
Current tax – 852
Over-provision in prior years (4) (17)   

(4) 835
Deferred taxation (Note 27) (34) (93)   

(38) 742   

For the year ended 30 June 2020, no provision for Hong Kong profits tax was made as there are no assessable 
profits.

For the year ended 30 June 2019, Hong Kong profits tax of the qualified entity of the Group was calculated in 
accordance with the two-tiered profits tax rates regime. The profits of other Group entities in Hong Kong not 
qualifying for the two-tiered profits tax rates regime was taxed at the flat rate of 16.5%.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation 
Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25%. For the years ended 30 June 2020 and 
2019, no provision for EIT was made as there were no assessable profits.

Pursuant to the rules and regulations of the Cayman Islands and BVI, the Group is not subject to any income tax 
in the Cayman Islands and the BVI.

The income tax (credit) expenses can be reconciled to the loss before taxation per the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Continuing operations

Loss before taxation (14,547) (8,511)   

Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) (2,400) (1,404)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (198) (73)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 960 2,421
Tax effect of tax loss not recognised 1,604 –
Over-provision in prior years (4) (17)
Effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime – (165)
Effect of tax concession granted (Note) – (20)   

Income tax (credit) expenses for the year (38) 742   

Note:	 For the year of assessment 2019/20, tax concession represented a reduction of Hong Kong Profits Tax by 75%, subject 
to a ceiling of HK$20,000 per company.
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10.	DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS
On 20 May 2019, the Company entered into a sales and purchase agreement with a shareholder of non-
controlling interest of Jiangyin Grabene Photocatalyic Technology Co., Ltd., (“Jiangyin Grabene”) to dispose 
its wholly owned subsidiary, Sino Kaiser Limited (“Sino Kaiser”). Through this disposal, 100% directly held 
subsidiary by Sino Kaiser and its 55% indirectly held subsidiary (collectively referred to as the “Disposal Group”) 
were also disposed accordingly, at a cash consideration of HK$42,800,000. The Disposal Group carried out all of 
the Group’s sales of visible light photocatalysis products which represented a separate major line of business of 
the Group. As a result, it had been presented as a discontinued operation in the consolidated statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income for the year ended 30 June 2019. The disposal was completed on 28 
June 2019, on which date control of the Disposal Group was passed to the acquirer.

The loss from the discontinued operation for the period from 1 July 2018 to 28 June 2019 was analysed as 
follows:

1/7/2018 –
28/6/2019

HK$’000  

Loss of sales of visible light photocatalysis product operation for the period (8,766)
Loss on disposal of sales of visible light photocatalysis product operation (Note 37) (419)  

(9,185)  

The results of the sales of visible light photocatalysis products operations for the period from 1 July 2018 to 28 
June 2019 were as follows:

1/7/2018 –
28/6/2019

HK$’000  

Revenue 1,106
Cost of sales (266)  

Gross profit 840
Other income 425
Gain on fair value change on contingent payable (Note 36) 12,770
Impairment on goodwill (10,234)
Administrative expenses (7,481)
Finance costs (5,086)  

Loss before taxation (8,766)
Income tax expenses (Note) –  

Loss for the period (8,766)  

Loss for the period attributable to:
– Owners of the Company (3,721)
– Non-controlling interests of the Disposal Group (5,045)  

(8,766)  
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10.	DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued)

Note:	 Under the law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the 
tax rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25%. No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made as the PRC subsidiary 
has no assessable profits for the year ended 30 June 2019. No provision for PRC Enterprise Income Tax has been made as 
the PRC subsidiary has sufficient tax losses brought forward to set off against current period’s assessable profit for the 
year ended 30 June 2019.

Loss for the period from discontinued operation has been arrived at after charging (crediting):

1/7/2018 –
28/6/2019

HK$’000  

Amount of inventories recognised as an expense 266
Staff costs – salaries, allowances, other benefits and contributions to 

retirement benefits scheme 848
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 1,892
Amortisation of prepaid lease payments 1,092
Net exchange losses 4
Rental income, net of nil direct outgoings (391)
Bank interest income (2)  

The information on cash flows incurred by the discontinued operation is as follows:

1/7/2018 –
28/6/2019

HK$’000  

Net cash used in operating activities (9,131)

Net cash from investing activities 3,619

Net cash from financing activities 6,766  

No tax deduction arose on loss on disposal of the discontinued operation.

The carrying amounts of the total assets and liabilities of the discontinued operation at the date of disposal are 
disclosed in Note 37.
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11.	LOSS FOR THE YEAR
Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Continuing operations

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Staff costs (including directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments)
– Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (Note 12) 3,456 2,232
– Salaries, allowances and other benefits (excluding directors’ and 

  chief executive’s emoluments) 29,189 38,742
– Contributions to retirement benefits schemes (excluding directors’ 

  and chief executive’s emoluments) 929 1,128
– Long service payment obligations 67 106   

Total staff costs 33,641 42,208   

Auditor’s remuneration 1,280 1,102
Impairment loss on trade receivables 1,249 –
Impairment loss on other receivables 964 –
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 652 1,157
Depreciation of right-of-use assets 1,685 –
Minimum lease payments paid under operating lease in respected of 

rented premises (Note) N/A 3,933   

Note:	 Operating lease payments in respect of rented premises for the year ended 30 June 2019 represent payments made 
and accounted for under HKAS 17. Details of the lease payments made for the year ended 30 June 2020 are set out in 
Note 17.
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12.	DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS
The emoluments paid or payable to each of the nine (2019: five) directors, ex-directors and chief executive were as 
follows:

For the year ended 30 June 2020

Name of Director
Directors

fees

Salaries,
allowances

and other
benefits

Contributions
to retirement

benefits
schemes Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Emoluments paid or receivable in 
respect of a person’s services 
as a director, whether of the 
Company and its subsidiary 
undertakings

Executive directors
Ma Huijun (Chairman) (Note i) – 640 – 640
Dai Jian (Vice chairman and  

Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”)) 
(Notes ii, v) – 1,200 18 1,218

Dai Ming – 600 18 618
Lai Aizhong (Note iii) – 400 – 400

Non-executive director
Zhang Junze (Note iv) – 96 – 96

Independent non-executive 
directors

Chan Foon 132 – – 132
Guo Biao 132 – – 132
Song Dan 132 – – 132
Huang Shuhui (Note iii) 88 – – 88     

484 2,936 36 3,456     
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12.	DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2019

Name of Director
Directors’

fees

Salaries,
allowances
and other

benefits

Contributions 
to retirement 

benefits 
schemes Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Emoluments paid or receivable in 
respect of a person’s services 
as a director, whether of the 
Company and its subsidiary 
undertakings

Executive directors
Dai Jian (Chairman and CEO) 

(Notes v) – 1,200 18 1,218
Dai Ming – 600 18 618

Independent non-executive 
directors

Chan Foon 132 – – 132
Guo Biao 132 – – 132
Song Dan 132 – – 132     

396 1,800 36 2,232     

Notes:

(i)	 Appointed as an executive director and the chairman on 21 November 2019.

(ii)	 Resigned as the chairman and appointed as the vice chairman on 21 November 2019.

(iii)	 Appointed on 21 November 2019.

(iv)	 Appointed on 20 December 2019.

(v)	 Emoluments also included those for services rendered as CEO.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors agreed to waive or waived any emoluments during the years 
ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.
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13.	INDIVIDUAL WITH HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS
During the year ended 30 June 2020, the five individuals with the highest emoluments in the Group included 
one (2019: one) director and chief executive whose emoluments are included in the disclosures in Note 12 
above. The emoluments of the remaining four (2019: four) non-director individuals were follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 4,616 8,632
Contributions to retirement benefits schemes 50 72   

4,666 8,704   

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2020 2019
No. of

employees
No. of

employees   

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 –
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,500,000 – 3   

During the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of 
the Company, chief executive and the five highest paid individuals as an inducement to join or upon joining the 
Group, or as compensation for loss of office.

14.	DIVIDENDS
No dividend was paid or proposed during the year ended 30 June 2020, nor has any dividend been proposed 
since the end of reporting period (2019: Nil).
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15.	LOSS PER SHARE
From continuing and discontinued operations

The calculation of basic and diluted loss per share attributable to owners of the Company is based on the 
following data:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Loss
Loss for the purpose of basic loss per share, loss for the year 

attributable to owners of the Company
– from continuing operations (14,493) (9,270)
– from discontinued operation – (4,140)   

– from continuing and discontinued operations (14,493) (13,410)   

2020 2019   

Number of shares
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of 

basic earnings per share 5,594,000,000 5,594,000,000   

Basic and diluted loss per share (HK cents)
– from continuing and discontinued operations (0.26) (0.24)
– from continuing operations (0.26) (0.17)
– from discontinued operation – (0.07)   

The diluted loss per share is equal to the basic loss per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares 
during the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019.

The denominators used are the same as those detailed above for both basic and diluted loss per share.
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16.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings

Machinery
and

equipment

Furniture,
fixture

and office
equipment

Motor
vehicles

Leasehold
improvement Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000       

COST
At 1 July 2018 39,226 4,089 1,869 8,689 177 54,050
Additions – – – 1,312 – 1,312
Disposals – – – (2,676) – (2,676)
Disposal of subsidiaries 

(Note 37) (37,521) (3,559) (70) – (26) (41,176)
Exchange realignment (1,705) (112) (3) – (1) (1,821)       

At 30 June 2019 – 418 1,796 7,325 150 9,689
Impact on initial application 

of HKFRS 16 (Note 2) – – – (2,480) – (2,480)       

At 1 July 2019 (Restated) – 418 1,796 4,845 150 7,209
Disposals – – – (550) – (550)
Transfer from right-of-use 

assets (Note a) – – – 1,609 – 1,609       

At 30 June 2020 – 418 1,796 5,904 150 8,268       

ACCUMULATED 
DEPRECIATION

At 1 July 2018 228 442 1,400 3,053 84 5,207
Charge for the year 1,517 365 84 1,045 38 3,049
Eliminated on disposals – – – (1,191) – (1,191)
Disposal of subsidiaries 

(Note 37) (1,551) (414) (17) – – (1,982)
Exchange realignment (194) (2) – – – (196)       

At 30 June and 1 July 2019 – 391 1,467 2,907 122 4,887
Impact on initial application 

of HKFRS 16 (Note 2) – – – (729) – (729)       

At 1 July 2019 (Restated) – 391 1,467 2,178 122 4,158
Charge for the year – 4 66 554 28 652
Eliminated on disposals – – – (387) – (387)       

At 30 June 2020 – 395 1,533 2,345 150 4,423       

CARRYING VALUES
At 30 June 2020 – 23 263 3,559 – 3,845       

At 30 June 2019 – 27 329 4,418 28 4,802       

Note a:	 During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group obtained the ownership of certain right-of-use assets at the end of 
the lease terms and the carrying amounts of the assets of approximately HK$1,609,000 were transferred to property, 
plant and equipment as deemed costs.
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16.	PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

The following property, plant and equipment are depreciated on diminishing balance method at their estimated 
depreciation rates as below:

Equipment 25% in the year of purchase and 15% per annum in subsequent years
Furniture, fixture and office 

equipment
25% in the year of purchase and 15% per annum in subsequent years

Motor vehicles 25% in the year of purchase and 15% per annum in subsequent years

The following property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis, at the following rates per 
annum:

Buildings 25 years
Machinery 10% – 19% per annum
Leasehold improvement Over the term of lease

As at 30 June 2019, the carrying values of motor vehicles include an amount of approximately HK$1,751,000 in 
respect of assets held under finance leases.

17.	RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES
(i)	 Right-of-use assets

30.6.2020 1.7.2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Buildings 290 1,833
Motor vehicles – 1,751   

290 3,584   

In respect of lease arrangement for renting motor vehicles, the Group’s obligations were secured by lessor’s 
charge over the leased assets with carrying amounts of approximately HK$1,751,000 on 1 July 2019. 
During the year, the Group obtained the ownership of these assets at the end of the lease terms and the 
carrying amounts of the assets of approximately HK$1,609,000 were transferred to property, plant and 
equipment as deemed costs.

At 30 June 2020, right-of-use assets of approximately HK$290,000 and nil (1 July 2019: HK1,833,000 and 
HK$1,751,000) represents the lease arrangements for buildings and motor vehicles located in the Hong 
Kong respectively.

The lease terms generally ranged from one to two years.
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17.	RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS AND LEASE LIABILITIES (Continued)

(ii)	 Lease liabilities

30.6.2020 1.7.2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Non-current – 40
Current 276 2,489   

276 2,529   

30.6.2020
HK$’000  

Amounts payable under lease liabilities
– Within one year 276  

(iii)	 Amounts recognised in profit or loss

1.7.2019 to
 30.6.2020

HK$’000  

Depreciation expense on right-of-use assets
– Buildings 1,543
– Motor vehicles 142  

1,685

Interest expense on lease liabilities 60
Expense relating to short-term leases 418  

(iv)	 Others

During the year ended 30 June 2020, the total cash outflow for leases amount to approximately 
HK$2,731,000.



Annual Report 2020 91

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2020

18.	FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE 
INCOME

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Unlisted equity investment designated as at FVTOCI – 1,949   

As at 30 June 2019, the Group held 4.02% equity interest in an unlisted company in Hong Kong. The investment 
in equity instruments are not held for trading. Instead, they are held for medium to long-term strategic purposes. 
Accordingly, the directors of the Company had elected to designate these investments in equity instruments as 
at FVTOCI as they believed that recognising short-term fluctuations in these investments’ fair value in profit or 
loss would not be consistent with the Group’s strategy of holding these investments for long-term purposes and 
realising their performance potential in the long run.

On 19 September 2019, as a result of change in investment plan, the Group disposed of the investment in the 
unlisted equity instrument to an independent third party at a consideration of approximately HK$4,490,000 and 
a gain on disposal of approximately HK$2,541,000 was recognised in other comprehensive income.

19.	RENTAL DEPOSIT, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND CONSIDERATION 
RECEIVABLE
The following is an analysis of rental deposit and trade and other receivables at the end of the reporting period:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade receivables (Note a) 75,167 55,535
Less: Loss allowance of trade receivables (1,249) –   

Net trade receivables 73,918 55,535

Advances to subcontractors 2,262 2,632
Payment in advance 337 413   

76,517 58,580   

Deposits and other receivables (Note b) 15,440 1,517
Less: Loss allowance of other receivables (964) –   

14,476 1,517

Less: Rental deposit shown under non-current assets (150) (178)   

14,326 1,339   

90,843 59,919   

(a)	 At as 30 June 2020, the gross amount of trade receivables arising from contracts with customers amounted to 
approximately HK$75,167,000 (2019: HK$55,535,000).

(b)	 As at 30 June 2020, the gross amount of other receivables of approximately HK$13,458,000 (2019: Nil) represented 
receivables from the sales of construction materials. The credit term provided to the customer is 90 days.
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19.	RENTAL DEPOSIT, TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND CONSIDERATION 
RECEIVABLE (Continued)

The Group does not hold any collateral over the above balances.

The Group does not have a standardised and universal credit period granted to its customers, and the credit 
period of individual customer is considered on a case-by-case basis and stipulated in the project contract, as 
appropriate, for the building maintenance and renovation services.

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables, net of allowance for impairment of trade receivables, 
presented based on the certified report or based on invoices dates which approximates the respective revenue 
recognition dates at the end of the reporting period:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within 90 days 42,140 25,410
91 to 180 days 3,177 5,879
181 to 365 days 4,580 11,156
1 to 2 years 23,081 12,150
Over 2 years 940 940   

73,918 55,535   

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables at an amount equal to lifetime ECL. The ECL on 
trade receivables are estimated either collectively using a provision matrix by reference to past default experience 
of the debtor or assessed on an individual basis based on the credit risk characteristic and the ageing of trade 
receivables. The Group considers the historical loss rates in the past three years and adjusts for forward looking 
factors in calculating the ECL rates.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current 
reporting period in assessing the loss allowance for these financial assets.

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit risk and ECL for trade receivables from 
those customers which are assessed individually or collectively based on provision matrix as at 30 June 2020.

As at 30 June 2020
Expected 
loss rate

Gross
carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Net
carrying
amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

Trade receivables – collective assessment 
– Not past due – 57,720 – 57,720

Trade receivables – individual assessment 7.2 17,447 (1,249) 16,198     

75,167 (1,249) 73,918     

For trade receivables of approximately HK$57,720,000 that are due from government bodies which have 
good credit rating and very rare past default payment history, the directors of the Company assessed the ECL 
on a collective basis with insignificant loss allowance noted. The remaining trade receivable of approximately 
HK$17,447,000 was due from a non-government body and ECL is assessed individually.
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19.	RENTAL DEPOSIT, TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND CONSIDERATION 
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

As at 30 June 2019, the directors of the Company consider that the ECL was insignificant in respect of the trade 
receivables, therefore no loss allowance on trade receivables was recognised.

The movement in the allowance for impairment of trade receivables is set out below:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

At the beginning of the year – 596
Impairment loss recognised 1,249 –
Amounts written off as uncollectible (Note) – (596)   

At the end of the year 1,249 –   

The following significant change in the gross carrying amounts of trade receivables contributed to the increase in 
the loss allowance during 2020:

–	 increase in days past due over 30 days resulted in an increase in lifetime ECL of approximately 
HK$1,249,000.

Note: 	 The Group writes off trade receivable when there is information indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 
difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor has been placed under liquidation or in 
severe financial difficulties.

An analysis of the gross amount of deposits and other receivables is as follows.

Expected
loss rate

Gross
carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Net
carrying
amount

% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

30 June 2020
Performing – 1,982 – 1,982
Doubtful 7.2 13,458 (964) 12,494     

Total 15,440 (964) 14,476     

30 June 2019
Performing – 1,517 – 1,517     

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current 
reporting period in assessing the loss allowance for deposits and other receivables.
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19.	RENTAL DEPOSIT, TRADE, OTHER RECEIVABLES AND CONSIDERATION 
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The movement in the allowance for impairment of deposits and other receivables is set out below:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

At the beginning of the year – –
Impairment loss recognised 964 –   

At the end of the year 964 –   

The following significant change in the gross carrying amount of deposits and other receivables contributed to 
the increase in the loss allowance during 2020:

–	 increase in days past due over 30 days resulted in an increase in lifetime ECL of approximately HK$964,000 as 
the directors of the Company consider that there is a significant increase in credit risk.

The following is an analysis of consideration receivable at the end of the reporting period:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Consideration receivable (Note) 21,400 21,400   

Note:	 As at 30 June 2020, gross amount of consideration receivables of approximately HK$21,400,000 represented 
receivables from disposal of subsidiaries taken place during the year ended 30 June 2019. There has been a significant 
increase in credit risk during the year ended 30 June 2020 as the outstanding balance was overdue. However, the 
directors of the Company consider that the ECL is insignificant in respect of the consideration receivable after taking 
into account the value of the pledged properties and therefore no loss allowance on consideration receivable was 
recognised as at 30 June 2020 (2019: nil).

	 There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current reporting 
period in assessing the loss allowance for the consideration receivable.
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20.	LOAN AND INTEREST RECEIVABLE

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Unsecured fixed-rate loan and interest receivable 12,088 9,965   

As at 30 June 2020, included in the Group’s loan and interest receivable balance is a single debtor with gross 
amount of HK$12,088,000 (2019: HK$9,965,000) which is secured by listed shares held by the debtor (2019: 
Unsecured) and the repayment term has been further extended to 26 March 2021 during the year. The amount is 
interest bearing at a fixed rate of 9% (2019: 9%) per annum.

During the year ended 30 June 2020, in determining the ECL for the asset, the directors of the Company have 
taken into account the historical payment history of the debtor considering various external sources of actual and 
forecast economic information and value of charged shares, as appropriate, in estimating the probability of the 
default of this financial asset as well as the loss upon default in each case.

The directors of the Company consider that the ECL is insignificant in respect of the loan and interest receivables 
after taking into account of the value of the charged shares, therefore no loss allowance on loan and interest 
receivables was recognised as at 30 June 2020 (2019: nil).

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current 
reporting period in assessing the loss allowance for loan and interest receivable.
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21.	CONTRACT ASSETS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Analysed as current:

Unbilled revenue of construction contracts (Note a) 45,018 65,935
Retention receivables of construction contracts (Note b) 6,862 6,901   

Total contract assets 51,880 72,836   

Unbilled revenue of construction contracts
Within one year 37,275 65,935
Over one year (Note c) 7,743 –   

45,018 65,935   

Retention receivables of construction contracts
Due within one year 4,495 5,902
Due over one year (Note c) 2,367 999   

6,862 6,901   

Notes:

(a)	 Unbilled revenue included in contract assets represents the Group’s right to receive consideration for work completed 
but not yet billed because the rights are conditional upon the satisfaction by the customers on the construction work 
completed by the Group and the work is pending for the certification by the customers. The contract assets are 
transferred to trade receivables when the rights become unconditional, which is typically at the time the Group obtains 
the certification of the completed construction work from the customers.

(b)	 Retention receivables included in contract assets represents the Group’s right to receive consideration for work performed 
and not yet billed because the rights are conditional on the satisfaction of the service quality by the customers over a 
certain period as stipulated in the contracts. The contract assets are transferred to trade receivables when the rights 
become unconditional, which is typically at the expiry date of the period for the provision of assurance by the Group on 
the service quality of the construction work performed by the Group.

(c)	 The amount was expected to be recovered in more than twelve months from the end of the reporting period but within 
its normal operating cycle.

The Group classifies these contract assets under current assets because the Group expects to realise them in its 
normal operating cycle.
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21.	CONTRACT ASSETS (Continued)

For contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach permitted by HKFRS 9 to measure the 
allowance for credit losses at lifetime ECL. The contract assets are assessed for ECL by using the same basis and 
approach as trade receivables. After the assessment by the directors of the Company, the allowance for ECL on 
contract assets are insignificant to the Group as at 30 June 2019 and 2020.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or significant assumptions made during the current 
reporting period in assessing the loss allowance for contract assets.

22.	PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS, TIME DEPOSITS WITH ORIGINAL MATURITY OVER 
THREE MONTHS AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH
Pledged bank deposits

As at 30 June 2020, pledged bank deposits represent deposit pledged to a bank to secure bank facilities and 
performance guarantee in respect of a renovation project issued by the Group and is expected to be recovered in 
its normal operating cycle and therefore classified as current asset (2019: to secure bank borrowings which was 
repayable less than twelve months and was therefore classified as current asset). Pledged bank deposits carried 
fixed interest rates which range from 0.63% to 1.70% per annum (2019: 1.75%).

Time deposits with original maturity over three months

As at 30 June 2020, time deposits carried a fixed interest rate which range from 1.40% to 1.90% per annum 
(2019: 2.50%).

Bank balances and cash

Bank balances carry interest at market rates which range from 0.01% to 0.03% (2019: 0.01% to 0.03%) per 
annum.

23.	TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
The following is an analysis of trade and other payables at the end of the reporting period:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Trade payables 84,267 47,085
Retention money payables (Note a) 4,491 6,516
Accrued expenses and other payables (Note b) 9,734 10,296
Deferred subsidy income (Note 7(ii)) 1,284 –
Dividend payable to non-controlling interests 779 779   

100,555 64,676   

Notes:

(a)	 As at 30 June 2020, retention money of approximately HK$349,000 (2019: HK$984,000) was expected to be paid or 
settled in more than twelve months from the end of the reporting period but within its normal operating cycle.

(b)	 As at 30 June 2020, included in accrued expenses and other payables was amount of approximately HK$1,278,000 (2019: 
HK$540,000) representing accrued directors’ emoluments. The amount is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.
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23.	TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented based on the invoice date at the end of the 
reporting period:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Within 90 days 60,659 21,842
91 to 180 days 4,879 9,675
181 to 365 days 9,187 5,190
1 to 2 years 7,291 5,750
Over 2 years 2,251 4,628   

84,267 47,085   

Trade payables represented payables to subcontractors. The credit terms granted by subcontractors were 
stipulated in the relevant contracts and the payables were usually due for settlement within seven days after the 
Group received settlement of corresponding trade receivables. The Group has financial risk management policies 
in place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit time-frame.

24.	OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES

2019
HK$’000  

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
– Current liabilities 696  

It is the Group’s policy to lease certain of its motor vehicles under finance leases. The lease term ranged from 
1 to 1.5 years throughout the year ended 30 June 2019. During the year ended 30 June 2019, the effective 
interest rates ranged from 1.23% to 1.28% per annum.

Minimum lease 
payments

Present value 
of minimum 

lease payments
2019 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000   

Analysed for reporting
purposes as:
– Within one year 703 696

Less: future finance charges (7) N/A   

Present value of obligations under finance lease 696  



Annual Report 2020 99

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
For the year ended 30 June 2020

24.	OBLIGATIONS UNDER FINANCE LEASES (Continued)

The Group’s obligations under finance leases were secured by the lessor’s charge over the leased assets.

The Group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified retrospective approach and adjusted the opening 
balances at 1 July 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were previously classified as 
operating leases under HKAS 17. These liabilities have been aggregated with the brought forward balances 
relating to leases previously classified as finance leases and disclosed in note 17. Comparative information as at 
30 June 2019 has not been restated and relates solely to leases previously classified as finance leases. Further 
details on the impact of the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 2.

25.	BANK BORROWINGS

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Secured and guaranteed – 2,146   

Carrying amount of bank borrowings repayable (based on scheduled 
repayment dates set out in the loan agreement)
– Within one year – 2,146   

As at 30 June 2019, bank borrowings for Hong Kong carried at Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR”) 
plus 2.5% which was 3.30% to 3.67% per annum. The bank borrowings and general banking facilities were 
secured and/or guaranteed by the corporate guarantee given by the Company and the Group’s pledged bank 
deposits as disclosed in Note 22.

All the bank borrowings were settled during the year ended 30 June 2020.

26.	LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS
The long service payment obligations is as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

At beginning of the year 432 326
Provision for the year 67 106   

At the end of the year 499 432   
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26.	LONG SERVICE PAYMENT OBLIGATIONS (Continued)

The Group makes provision for probable future long service payments to employees in accordance with Hong 
Kong Employment Ordinance. Pursuant to Chapter 10 of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance, the long 
service payment is to be offset with the accrued benefits derived from the Group’s contributions made to MPF 
Scheme for the employees and subject to a cap of HK$390,000 per employee. The provision represents the 
management’s best estimate of the Group’s liability at the end of the reporting period. As at 30 June 2020 and 
2019, the amount is calculated based on the principal assumptions stated as below:

2020 2019   

Salary inflation rate 0.00% 3.50%
Discount rate 1.63% 1.63%   

27.	DEFERRED TAX
The followings are the major deferred tax (liabilities) assets recognised and movements thereon during the 
current and prior reporting years:

Business
 combination

Accelerated
 tax

 depreciation Tax losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

At 1 July 2018 (2,270) (549) 830 (1,989)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) – 93 – 93
Disposal of a subsidiary (Note 37) 2,270 – (830) 1,440     

At 30 June and 1 July 2019 – (456) – (456)
Credited to profit or loss (Note 9) – 34 – 34     

At 30 June 2020 – (422) – (422)     

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused tax loss of approximately HK$28,992,000 (2019: 
HK$19,269,000). No deferred tax has been recognised due to unpredictability of future profit streams. Such tax 
loss may be carried forward indefinitely.
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28.	SHARE CAPITAL

Number of
ordinary

shares

Nominal
value of
ordinary

shares
HK$’000   

Authorised:
Ordinary share of HK$0.002 each at 1 July 2018, 30 June 2019,  

1 July 2019 and 30 June 2020 10,000,000,000 20,000   

Issued and fully paid:
Ordinary share of HK$0.002 each at 1 July 2018, 30 June 2019,  

1 July 2019 and 30 June 2020 5,594,000,000 11,189   

29.	CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going concern 
while maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity balance. The 
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debts (which include bank borrowings, lease liabilities/ 
obligations under finance leases, net of pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over three 
months, bank balances and cash) and equity attributable to the owners of the Company, comprising issued share 
capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure regularly. As part of this review, the directors of the 
Company consider the cost of capital and risks associated with each class of capital. Based on recommendations 
of the directors of the Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through the payment of 
dividends, new share issues and the issue or redemption of borrowings.
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30.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
Categories of financial instruments

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Financial assets
Financial assets at FVTOCI – 1,949
Financial assets at amortised cost 191,893 148,000   

Financial liabilities
At amortised cost 99,271 66,822   

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial assets and liabilities include financial assets at FVTOCI, rental deposit, loan and 
interest receivable, trade and other receivables, pledged bank deposits, time deposits with original maturity over 
three months, bank balances and cash, consideration receivable, trade and other payables and bank borrowings. 
Details of these financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these financial 
instruments included market risk (currency risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies 
on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The management manages and monitors these exposures to 
ensure appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk relates principally to its bank balances denominated in foreign 
currencies other than the functional currency of relevant group entity.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets and liabilities at the end of 
the reporting period are as follows:

Assets Liabilities
2020 2019 2020 2019

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

USD – 560 – –     

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging policy. However, the Directors continuously 
monitor the related foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging significant foreign currency exposure 
should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The management considered that the currency between HK$ and USD is pegged under linked-exchange rate 
system, the effect of change is not significant, accordingly, it is not included in this sensitivity analysis.
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30.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

Interest rate risk

As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, the Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation to its variable rate 
bank balances and bank borrowings and is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to fixed-rate 
pledged bank deposit, time deposits with original maturity over three months and lease liabilities/obligations 
under finance leases.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging policy. However, the management monitors interest 
rate exposure and will consider other necessary actions when significant interest rate exposure is anticipated.

As at 30 June 2020 and 2019, the Group had minimal exposure to interest rate risk and no sensitivity analysis is 
performed below.

Credit risk

As at 30 June 2020, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a financial loss to the 
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of the 
respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The credit risk of our Group mainly arises from bank balances and cash, rental deposit, pledged bank deposits, 
time deposits with original maturity over three months, trade and other receivables, consideration receivable and 
loan and interest receivable. The carrying amounts of these balances represent our Group’s maximum exposure 
to credit risk in relation to financial assets.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of the Group has delegated a team responsible for 
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is 
taken to recover overdue debts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at 
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. In estimating the ECL, the Group determines the ECL either collectively using a 
provision matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor or assessed on an individual basis based on 
the credit risk characteristic and the ageing of trade receivables. The Group estimated the ECL based on historical 
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, the general economic conditions and 
an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast conditions at the reporting date, including time value 
of money where appropriate. In this regard, the directors of the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is 
significantly reduced.
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30.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other non-traded related receivables, the Group has assessed whether there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk since initial recognition. If there has been a significant increase in credit risk, the Group will measure 
the loss allowance based on lifetime rather than 12-month ECL.

Management considered rental deposit, deposits and certain other receivables, time deposits with original 
maturity over three months, pledged bank deposits, bank balances and cash and loan and interest receivables to 
be low credit risk and thus measurement of the loss allowance was limited to 12-month ECL. However, there has 
been a significant increase in credit risk of certain other receivables and consideration receivable and thus the 
measurement of the loss allowance during the year ended 30 June 2020 was based on the lifetime ECL. As the 
consideration receivable was fully secured by collaterals with high market value, the management considers that 
the credit risk in respect of the consideration receivable is significantly reduced.

The Group considers the probability of default upon initial recognition of asset and whether there has been a 
significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing basis throughout the reporting period. To assess whether there 
is a significant increase in credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default occurring on the asset as at the 
reporting date with the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers available reasonable and 
supportive forwarding-looking information. Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

•	 internal credit rating

•	 external credit rating

•	 actual or expected significant adverse changes in business, financial or economic conditions that are 
expected to cause a significant change to the debtor’s ability to meet its obligations

•	 actual or expected significant changes in the operating results of the debtor

•	 significant increase in credit risk on other financial instruments of the debtor

The Group’s exposure to credit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked its management team to develop and maintain the Group’s 
credit risk grading to categories exposures according to their degree of risk of default. The management team 
uses publicly available financial information and the Group’s own trading records to rate its major customers and 
other debtors. The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its counterparties are continuously monitored and 
the aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread amongst approved counterparties.
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30.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s current credit risk grading framework comprises the following categories:

Category Description
Basis for
recognising ECL   

Performing For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not 
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition and 
that are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)

12-month ECL

Doubtful For financial assets where there has been a significant increase in 
credit risk since initial recognition but that are not credit impaired 
(refer to as Stage 2)

Lifetime ECL – not 
credit impaired

Default Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or more 
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash 
flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)

Lifetime ECL – credit 
impaired

Write-off There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe financial 
difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of recovery

Amount is written off

The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s financial assets and contracts assets as well as the 
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades.
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30.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at
30 June 2020

Internal
credit rating

12-month
or lifetime ECL

Gross
carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Net
carrying
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Loan and interest 
receivable

Performing 12-month ECL 12,088 – 12,088

Consideration receivable Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not 
credit impaired)

21,400 – 21,400

Trade receivables N/A
(Note i)

Lifetime ECL  
(collectively 
assessed, not  
credit-impaired)

57,720 – 57,720

N/A
(Note i)

Lifetime ECL 
(individually 
assessed, not 
 credit-impaired)

17,447 (1,249) 16,198

Deposits and other 
receivables

Performing 12-month ECL 1,982 – 1,982

Doubtful Lifetime ECL (not 
credit impaired)

13,458 (964) 12,494

Contract assets N/A
(Note i)

Lifetime ECL 
(simplified 
approach)

51,880 – 51,880

Time deposits with  
original maturity over 
three months

(Note ii) 12-month ECL 31,500 – 31,500

Pledged bank deposits (Note ii) 12-month ECL 1,435 – 1,435
Bank balances and cash (Note ii) 12-month ECL 37,076 – 37,076   
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30.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

As at
30 June 2019

Internal
credit rating

12-month
or lifetime ECL

Gross
carrying
amount

Loss
allowance

Net
carrying
amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Loan and interest 
receivable

Performing 12-month ECL 9,965 – 9,965

Consideration receivable Performing 12-month ECL 21,400 – 21,400
Trade receivables N/A

(Note i)
Lifetime ECL 

(collectively  
assessed,  
not credit-impaired)

55,535 – 55,535

Deposits and other 
receivables

Performing 12-month ECL 1,517 – 1,517

Contract assets N/A
(Note i)

Lifetime ECL 
(simplified 
approach)

72,836 – 72,836

Pledged bank deposits (Note ii) 12-month ECL 1,411 – 1,411
Time deposits with  

original maturity over 
three months

(Note ii) 12-month ECL 10,000 – 10,000

Bank balances and cash (Note ii) 12-month ECL 48,172 – 48,172   

Notes:

(i)	 For trade receivables and contract assets, the Group has applied the simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the 
loss allowance at lifetime ECL. In estimating the ECL, the Group determines the ECL either collectively using a provision 
matrix by reference to past default experience of the debtor or assessed on an individual basis based on the credit 
risk characteristic and the ageing of the trade receivables and contract assets. The Group estimated the ECL based on 
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the debtors, the general economic conditions 
and an assessment of both the current as well as the forecast conditions at the reporting date, including time value of 
money where appropriate. Notes 19 and 21 include further details on the loss allowance for these assets respectively.

(ii)	 The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings assigned by 
international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 28% (2019: 31%) of the total trade receivables at 30 June 2020 was due 
from the Group’s largest customer.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 81% (2019: 95%) of the total trade receivables at 30 June 2020 was due 
from the Group’s five largest customers.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical locations is in Hong Kong, which accounted for 100% (2019: 
100%) of the total trade receivables as at 30 June 2020.
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30.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents 
deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations 
in cash flows. Management monitors the utilisation of bank borrowings and ensures compliance with loan 
covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial liabilities. 
The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on the earliest 
date on which the Group can be required to pay.

Liquidity table

On demand
or within

1 year

Total
contractual

undiscounted
cash flow

Carrying
 amount

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 30 June 2020
Trade and other payables 99,271 99,271 99,271    

Lease liabilities 323 323 276    

At 30 June 2019
Trade and other payables 64,676 64,676 64,676
Bank borrowings 2,339 2,339 2,146    

67,105 67,105 66,822    

Obligations under finance leases 703 703 696    
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30.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement

Certain of Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities are measured at fair value at 30 June 2019. The 
following table give information about how the fair value was determined (in particular, the valuation technique 
and inputs used), as well as the level of the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurements was 
categorised (levels 1 to 3) based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements is observable 
in accordance with the Group’s accounting policy.

Financial assets
Fair value
hierarchy Valuation techniques and key inputs Fair value

2019
HK’000    

Financial assets at  
FVTOCI (Note 1)

Level 3 Market approach – By reference to the price to  
book ratio of 0.65 1,949 

Note 1:	 As at 30 June 2019, the significant unobservable inputs were price to book multiples of comparable companies. The 
relationship of key inputs and significant unobservable inputs to fair value was the lower the price to book multiples, 
the lower would be the fair value.

There was no transfer between level 1, 2 and 3 in the prior year.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of current financial assets and financial 
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements approximate to their corresponding 
fair values due to short term maturities.

The carrying amounts of non-current financial assets and liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated 
financial statements approximate to their corresponding fair values due to the applicable interest rate are based 
on prevailing market interest rates or current interest rates offered for similar financial instruments appropriate 
for the remaining term to maturity.
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30.	FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

Reconciliation of level 3 fair value measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities on recurring basis as 
follows:

Financial
assets

at FVTOCI
HK$’000  

At 1 July 2018 2,742

Fair value changes recognised in other comprehensive income (793)  

At 30 June 2019 1,949

Disposed of during the year (1,949)  

At 30 June 2020 –  

31.	SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company’s share option scheme was adopted pursuant to the written resolution passed on 18 December 
2014 to attract and retain the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive to eligible participants and 
to promote the success of the business of the Group.

Eligible participants of the share option scheme include employees (full-time and part-time), directors, 
consultants, advisors, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers, business partners or service providers 
of the Group.

No share option has been granted since the adoption of the share option scheme and there is no outstanding 
share option as at 30 June 2019 and 2020.
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32.	RETIREMENT BENEFITS PLANS
The Group operates MPF Scheme for all qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the schemes are 
held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. The Group contributes 5% of 
relevant payroll costs to the MPF Scheme, which contribution is matched by employees and subject to a cap of 
HK$1,500 per employee.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in the PRC, the former PRC subsidiary of the Company was 
required to contribute to the schemes to fund the retirement benefits of the eligible employees. Contribution 
made to the schemes was calculated based on certain percentages of the applicable payroll costs as stipulated 
under the requirements in the PRC. The relevant authorities of the PRC were responsible for the entire pension 
obligations payable to the retired employees. The only obligation of the Group with respect to the scheme was 
to pay the ongoing required contributions under the scheme.

During the years ended 30 June 2020 and 2019, the total expense recognised in the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income is approximately HK$965,000 and HK$1,254,000 respectively, 
which represent contributions payable to these schemes by the Group at rates specified in the rules of the 
scheme.

33.	OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS
The Group as lessee

At 30 June 2019, the Group had commitments in respect of future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases which fall due as follows:

2019
HK$’000  

Within one year 1,731
In the second to fifth year inclusive 343  

2,074  

Operating lease payments represents rentals payable by the Group for its office premises and a motor license. For 
the year ended 30 June 2019, leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for a term ranging from 1 to 2 years.

The leases were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. The Group has initially applied HKFRS 
16 using the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the Group adjusted the opening balances at 
1 July 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to these leases (see note 2). From 1 July 2019 onwards, future 
lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities in the consolidated statement of finance position in accordance 
with the policies set out in note 3, and the details regarding the Group’s future lease payments are disclosed in 
note 17.
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34.	CONTINGENT LIABILITIES
Contingent liabilities in respect of legal claims

One subsidiary of the Group is defendant in a number of claims, lawsuits and potential claims relating to 
employees’ compensation cases and personal injuries claims. The Directors considered that the possibility 
of any outflow in settling the legal claims was remote as these claims were well covered by insurance and 
subcontractors’ indemnity. Accordingly, no provision for the contingent liabilities in respect of the litigations is 
necessary, after due consideration of each case and with reference to the legal opinion.

Guarantee issued

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had provided guarantees to banks in respect of the following:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Performance bonds in favor of its clients 1,250 2,822   

As at 30 June 2020 approximately HK$1,250,000 (2019: HK$2,822,000) of performance bonds were given by 
bank in favour of some of the Group’s customers as security for the performance and observance of the Group’s 
obligations under the service contracts entered into between the Group and its customers. If the Group fails to 
provide satisfactory performance to its customers to whom performance bonds have been given, such customers 
may demand the banks to pay to them the sum or sums stipulated in such demand. The Group will then become 
liable to compensate such banks accordingly. The performance bonds will be released upon completion of the 
contract work for the relevant customers.
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35.	RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both cash and 
non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were, or future cash 
flows will be, classified in the consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from financing activities.

1 July
2019

Financing
cash flows

Finance
cost

incurred
30 June

2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000     

  
Lease liabilities 2,529 (2,313) 60 276
Interest payable included in other payables – (25) 25 –
Bank borrowings 2,146 (2,146) – –     

4,675 (4,484) 85 276     

Non-cash
changes 

1 July 2018
Financing

cash flows
Disposal of
a subsidiary

Finance
cost incurred

New
finance lease

 arrangements
30 June

2019
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(Note 37) (Note 41)       
 
Obligations under finance 

leases 1,588 (2,023) – – 1,131 696
Interest payable included in 

other payables – (5,337) – 5,337 – –
Bank borrowings 90,143 (8,386) (79,611) – – 2,146       

91,731 (15,746) (79,611) 5,337 1,131 2,842       
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36.	CONTINGENT PAYABLE
The fair value of the contingent payable represented the profit guarantee in relation to the adjustments to the 
consideration for the acquisition of Jiangyin Grabene during the year ended 30 June 2018. Contingent payable 
was measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period. The movement of contingent payable was as 
follows:

HK$’000  

At fair value:
At 1 July 2018 12,770
Fair value change (12,770)  

At 30 June 2019, 1 July 2019 and 30 June 2020 –  

As the Profit Guarantee could not be met, fair value change of approximately HK$12,770,000 was recognised 
during the year ended 30 June 2019.

37.	DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES
For the year ended 30 June 2020

On 29 May 2020, the Group agrees to dispose of the 100% equity interests in Shing Mining Development 
Company Limited (“Shing Mining”) to an independent third party for a cash consideration of HK$1.

Shing Mining was inactive during the year and the disposal has had no significant impact to the Group. The net 
liabilities of Shing Mining at the date of disposal were as follows:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

29.5.2020
HK$’000  

Bank balances and cash 2
Trade and other payables (60)
Tax payable (267)  

Net liabilities disposed of (325)  

Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HK$’000  

Consideration received and receivable –
Net liabilities disposed of 325  

325  
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37.	DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2020 (Continued)

The gain on disposal is included in other income (see Note 7).

Net cash outflow arising on disposal: HK$’000  

Cash consideration –
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of (2)  

(2)  

For the year ended 30 June 2019

On 20 May 2019, the Group agrees to dispose of the 100% equity interests in Disposal Group to a shareholder 
of non-controlling interest of Jiangyin Grabene, for a total cash consideration of HK$42,800,000.

As referred to in note 10, on 28 June 2019, the Group discontinued its sales of visible light photocatalysis 
products at the time of disposal of the Disposal Group.

Consideration HK$’000  

Cash received 21,400
Deferred cash consideration 21,400  

Total consideration 42,800  

The net assets of the Disposal Group at the date of disposal were as follows:

Analysis of assets and liabilities over which control was lost:

28.6.2019
HK$’000  

Property, plant and equipment 39,194
Prepaid lease payment 37,428
Inventories 8,670
Trade and other receivables 72,324
Bank balances and cash 19
Bank borrowings (79,611)
Trade and other payables (13,055)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,440)
Non-controlling interests (24,937)  

Net assets disposed of 38,592  
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37.	DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES (Continued)

For the year ended 30 June 2019 (Continued)

Loss on disposal of subsidiaries HK$’000  

Consideration received and receivable 42,800
Net assets disposed of (38,592)
Cumulative exchange differences in respect of the net assets of the subsidiary  

reclassified from equity to profit or loss on loss of control of the subsidiary (4,627)  

Loss on disposal (419)  

The loss on disposal is included in the profit for the year from discontinued operations (see Note 10).

Net cash inflow arising on disposal: HK$’000  

Cash consideration 21,400
Less: bank balances and cash disposed of (19)  

21,381  

38.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, during the year, the Company had the 
following transactions with related parties:

Related party* Nature of transaction 2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000    

Mega Billion Investment Limited Rental expense – 984
Handmade Investment Limited Short-term lease expense/rental 

expense 333 444
Handmade Investment Limited Consultancy fee paid 2,008 –
Base Win Engineering Limited Consultancy fee paid 2,008 –
Group Bridge Investment Limited Consultancy fee paid 2,008 –

In 2019, the Group entered into a two-year lease in respect of a property from Mega Billion Investment Limited*. 
The amount of rent payable by the Group under the lease is HK$82,000 per month. As at 30 June 2020, the 
carrying amount of such lease liabilities is nil. During the year ended 30 June 2020, the Group has made lease 
payments of approximately 984,000 to the related party.

*  All the above companies were directly owned by key management personnel of the Group.
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38.	RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company and other members of key management personnel during the 
year was as follows:

2020 2019
HK$’000 HK$’000   

Short-term benefits 9,147 13,185
Post-employment benefits 102 152   

9,249 13,337   

The remuneration of the directors of the Company and key executives are determined by the remuneration 
committee having regard to the performance of individuals and market trends.

39.	INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 
COMPANY

2020 2019
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000    

Non-current asset
Investments in subsidiaries 9,790 9,790    

Current assets
Other receivables 21,737 21,763
Amounts due from subsidiaries (a) 3,529 8,861
Bank balances and cash 24 28    

25,290 30,652    

Current liabilities
Accruals and other payables 3,437 2,539
Amounts due to subsidiaries (a) 1,750 1,750    

5,187 4,289    

Net current assets 20,103 26,363    

Net assets 29,893 36,153    

Capital and reserves
Share capital 11,189 11,189
Reserves (b) 18,704 24,964    

Total equity 29,893 36,153    
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39.	INFORMATION ABOUT THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE 
COMPANY (Continued)

Notes:

(a)	 The amounts are unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand.

(b)	 Movement in reserves

Share
premium

Accumulated
losses Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000    

At 1 July 2018 77,790 (37,424) 40,366

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year – (15,402) (15,402)    

At 30 June 2019 and 1 July 2019 77,790 (52,826) 24,964

Loss and total comprehensive expenses for the year – (6,260) (6,260)    

At 30 June 2020 77,790 (59,086) 18,704    

40.	PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY
Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries as at 30 June 2020 and 2019 are as follow:

Name of subsidiary

Place of
incorporation/
operation

Class of
shares/capital
held

Issued and
fully paid-up
capital

Percentage of ownership
interest and voting power

held by the Company Principal activities
2020 2019       

Directly held
ABO Group Limited The BVI Ordinary United States Dollar 

(“USD”) $89,600
100% 100% Investment holding

Sino Baron Group Limited The BVI Ordinary USD $1 100% 100% Investment holding

Indirectly held
Sing Fat Construction Company 

Limited
Hong Kong Ordinary HK$10,200,000 99.61% 99.61% Provision of building 

maintenance and 
renovation services

Richwise Power Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Provision of administrative 
services to group 
companies

Star Richly Inc. Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 100% 100% Inactive
Chong Hui Enterprises Limited The BVI Ordinary USD $1 100% 100% Inactive
Shing Mining Development  

Company Limited
Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 –

(Note)
100% Inactive

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
principally affected the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in 
the opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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40.	PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Note:	Being the subsidiary disposed of during the year ended 30 June 2020. Details are disclosed in Note 37.

At the end of the reporting period, the Company has other subsidiaries that are not material to the Group. One 
subsidiary is engaged in investment holding and the other subsidiaries were inactive during the year. A summary 
of these subsidiaries are set out as follows:

Principal activities Principal place of business Number of subsidiaries

30/6/2020 30/6/2019    
Investment holding BVI 1* –
Inactive Hong Kong & PRC 3* –

*	 Newly incorporated during the year

41.	MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION
During the year ended 30 June 2019, the Group entered into finance lease arrangements in respect of motor 
vehicles with a total capital value at the inception of the leases of approximately HK$1,131,000 (2020: nil).

42.	SUBSEQUENT EVENT DURING THE YEAR
On 25 August 2020, the Company received a winding-up petition (the “Petition”) filed by a creditor (the 
“Petitioner”) against the Company in the Court of First Instance of the High Court of the Hong Kong Special 
Administrative Region (the “High Court”). The Petitioner alleged that the Company is indebted to the Petitioner 
in the sum of approximately HK$407,000 (the “Claim”), which arose from services rendered by it to the 
Company for the period from 13 March 2019 to 15 April 2020. The first hearing of the petition will be held on 
25 November 2020.

At the end of the reporting period, the alleged sum has been accrued by the Group and included in accrued 
expenses. Subsequently, the Group settled the Claim to the Petitioner. Based on the advice from the Group’s 
legal advisor, with the settlement of the Claim, there is no material impact to the Group’s operation and the 
Petition should be withdrawn after completion of certain administrative procedures.
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For the year ended 30 June
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016

(Restated)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000      

Revenue 380,505 415,529 443,556 513,455 488,065
Cost of sales (362,382) (384,558) (401,852) (468,269) (443,118)      

Gross profit 18,123 30,971 41,704 45,186 44,947
Other income 3,373 1,839 2,021 1,475 322
Gain (loss) on fair value change on  

held-for-trading investments – – – 59 (1,135)
Operating expenses (36,043) (41,321) (37,715) (39,824) (26,988)      

(Loss) profit before taxation (14,547) (8,511) 6,010 6,896 17,146
Income tax credit (expense) 38 (742) (2,841) (5,511) (5,491)      

(Loss) profit for the year from 
continuing operations (14,509) (9,253) 3,169 1,385 11,655

Discontinued operation

(Loss) profit for the year from 
discontinued operation – (9,185) 4,244 – –      

(Loss) profit for the year (14,509) (18,438) 7,413 1,385 11,655      

Assets and liabilities
Non-current assets 4,285 16,894 103,935 8,886 7,854
Current assets 247,891 214,171 331,235 273,895 274,490
Current liabilities (100,831) (67,785) (221,063) (109,035) (110,281)      

Total assets less current liabilities 151,345 163,280 214,107 173,746 172,063
Non-current liabilities (921) (888) (10,753) (1,641) (1,343)      

Net assets 150,424 162,392 203,354 172,105 170,720      

Capital and reserves
Share capital 11,189 11,189 11,189 11,189 11,189
Reserves 138,616 150,568 162,662 160,353 159,040
Non-controlling interests 619 635 29,503 563 491      

Total equity 150,424 162,392 203,354 172,105 170,720      
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